IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC 05-2265

CROSLEY A. GREEN,

Appellant/Cross-Appellee,

v.

CAPITAL POSTCONVICTION CASE

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee/Cross-Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT/CROSS-APPELLEE

MARK S. GRUBER
Florida Bar No. 0330541
DAPHNEY E. GAYLORD
DAVID HENDRY
CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL
 COUNSEL-MIDDLE REGION
3801 Corporex Park Drive, Suite
Tampa, Florida 33619

Tampa, Florida 3361 813-740-3544

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE/ CROSS-APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

While sitting in a truck during a rendezvous in Holder Park, Chip Flynn and Kim Hallock were accosted by a man with a gun. According to Hallock, the man robbed them, and while holding them at gunpoint drove them to a deserted area. Hallock was able to pass Flynn's gun to him while his hands were tied behind his back. After Hallock was taken out of the truck, Flynn managed to dive from the truck with his gun and a struggle ensued. During an exchange of gunfire, Flynn was shot in the chest. Hallock drove off to a friend's home, passing numerous homes, businesses, and a hospital while the perpetrator fled on foot. More than an hour passed before law enforcement responded to the scene and Flynn died before the paramedics arrived.

Crosley Green eventually was arrested, tried and convicted for the first degree murder of Flynn. The jury recommended death by a vote of eight to four and the court sentenced him to death. After his conviction and sentence were affirmed on appeal, Green sought postconviction relief. After extensive postconviction litigation, the court affirmed the judgments of guilt but vacated Green's death sentence and ordered a new penalty phase. Crosley Green appeals the lower court's denial of his guilt phase claims and seeks provisional review of those penalty phase claims which the court denied. The State appeals the court's vacatur of the death sentence.

References to the record on direct appeal are in the form, e.g. Dir. I, [page] 234. References to the postconviction record are in the form, e.g. PC-R I, 234.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

In light of the gravity of the case and complexity of the issues raised herein, Crosley Green through counsel requests oral argument.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Procedural History

A Brevard County grand jury indicted Mr. Green for one count of first degree murder, two counts of kidnapping, and two counts of robbery with a firearm. Dir. XIII, 1283-85. A jury trial was held in Brevard County from August 27 to September 5, 1990. The jury returned a guilty verdict as to all counts on September 5, 1990. Dir. X, 1977. At the conclusion of the September 27, 1990 penalty phase, the jury recommended a sentence of death by a vote of eight to four. Dir. Vol. XII 2333. On February 8, 1991, the trial court sentenced Mr. Green to death. Dir. XIII, 2454; XV, 2837-47.

On direct appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Green's convictions and sentences. *Green v. State*, 641 So.2d 391 (Fla. 1994), *cert. denied*, 115 S.Ct. 1120 (February 21, 1995). The claims raised on direct appeal were that the trial court erred in (1) admitting evidence of dog scent tracking; (2) denying

Green's motion to suppress Kim Hallock's photographic and in-court identifications; (3) denying Green's motion for the jury to view the murder scene; (4) instructing the jury on flight; (5) considering as separate aggravating circumstances that Green committed the murder for pecuniary gain and Green committed the murder during a kidnapping; (6) finding that the murder was heinous, atrocious, and cruel; and (7) refusing to find certain mitigating circumstances. Green also argued that (8) the death penalty is disproportionate; and (9) the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator is unconstitutionally vague. This Court denied the first five issues on the merits. As to the seventh issue, this Court agreed that the sentencing order did not "strictly" comply with Campbell v. State, 571 So.2d 415, 420 (Fla. 1990), but found that its requirements had been met anyway. With regard to the ninth issue, the court found that error under Espinosa v. Florida, 505 U.S. 1079, 112 S.Ct. 2926 (1992) had not been preserved. As to the sixth and eighth issues, the court struck the HAC appravator but found that, in light of other cases, the three remaining valid aggravating circumstances, and no mitigators, that Green's death sentence is proportionate." Id.

There were a number of delays in the postconviction litigation that followed. They were occasioned by under funding of CCR, public records litigation, post-trial re-investigation

by the State prompted by some media attention to this case, and the State's motion to replace Crosley Green's long standing lawyers with new counsel from CCRC-M, among other things. The postconviction court found that the fully pled motion for postconviction relief dated November 30, 2001 was timely filed. PC-R XXIV, 4098. An abbreviated version of the claims stated

in that motion are:

CLAIM I: Ineffective assistance and due process violations regarding a juror whose family member was murdered and may have made a throat slashing gesture during the trial.

CLAIM II: Rules against interviewing jurors are unconstitutional.

CLAIM III: Guilt phase ineffective assistance based on: failure to obtain and maintain file, failure to investigate and develop issues relating to cross-race identification, failure to develop issues relating to the victim's truck, footprint impressions, ballistics, the initial police investigation, and the state's theory of flight.

CLAIM IV: Newly discovered evidence of recanting witnesses.

CLAIM V: The dog track evidence violated *Strickland*, *Brady and Giglio*.

CLAIM VI: Use of Green's New York robbery case in support of the prior violent felony aggravator violated *Johnson* v. *Mississippi*, *Giglio*, *Brady*, *and Strickland*.

CLAIM VII: Ineffective assistance at the penalty phase due to the failure to investigate and present available mitigation.

CLAIM VIII: Apprendi (later treated as a Ring claim).

CLAIM IX: Improper burden shifting instructions and ineffective assistance for failure to object.

CLAIM X: Execution by lethal injection is cruel or unusual

punishment.

CLAIM XI: Cumulative error.

CLAIM XII: Green may be incompetent at time of execution.

All of the claims listed above were alleged as federal and state claims for relief. The postconviction court conducted a Huff hearing on May 13, 2002, and on July 22, 2002 summarily denied some of the claims, set others for an evidentiary hearing, and specified other legal claims for resolution at a later date. PC-R XXIV, 4093-4129. The court also entered an order dated October 28, 2003 denying a motion for reconsideration of its summary denial of the due process components of Claim I. PC-R Vol. XXI, 3585-88. The court's final order disposing of all remaining claims after receiving evidence and entertaining written and oral argument on various dates was entered November 22, 2005, and incorporated the two previous orders as attached exhibits. PC-R XXIV, et seq.

Statement of facts

On direct appeal, this Court stated the facts presented at trial in its opinion issued February 21, 1995. *Green v. State*, 641 So.2d 391. There was no forensic evidence connecting Crosley Green to the crime other than the dog tracking testimony. The gun on the scene was Flynn's. Green was developed as a suspect mostly through police interviews of Kim Hallock and some street investigation. John Parker, Green's

trial counsel, described himself as being optimistic so long as he thought the main evidence against his client would be Hallock's testimony. The case took a turn for the worse when Sheila Green and Lonnie Hillary took the stand.

Sheila Green, Crosley Green's younger sister, and Lonnie Hillary, Sheila's common law husband at the time, were arrested along with others on federal drug trafficking charges while Crosley Green was awaiting trial in this case. Sheila was released pre-trial. Sheila and Hillary were tried about eight weeks prior to Crosley Green's trial. Hillary was acquitted and released, and Sheila was convicted and remanded to await sentencing. After a number of discussions with state and federal prosecutors, which are described below, both agreed to testify against Crosley Green.

At Green's trial, Sheila said that Crosley admitted the shooting to her but described it as unintended. Dir. Vol. V, 854-61. Hillary said that he saw Green the morning after the shooting. Green said that he got in a truck with a man and a woman, and when the woman tried to run, he fucked up. *Id.* 869-78. The prosecution also presented the testimony of Jerome Murray, who said that he overheard Green make an incriminating statement.

The entirety of the prosecution's evidentiary presentation to the jury in the penalty phase was devoted to showing that

Crosley Green previously had been convicted of a 1977 armed robbery in New York. The State called three witnesses, none of whom had any personal knowledge about the offense, and introduced a "Criminal Registration Form" which Green had executed at the Brevard County Sheriff's Department in order to obtain a driver's license and apply for a job. Dir. XII, 2192-95. That and a fingerprint card filled out in conjunction with it were the only documentation offered at trial in regard to the New York offense. Defense counsel called two witnesses to offer background mitigation, Shirley (Allen) Green White and Damon Jones. Ms. White talked briefly about the murder/suicide of Crosley Green's parents and about the defendant's son. Jones described an occasion where the defendant saved him from drowning. Dir. XII, 2219-29.

The jury returned an eight to four recommendation for the death penalty. In sentencing Green to death, the trial judge¹ found four aggravating factors: (1) Green was previously convicted of a violent felony; (2) the capital felony was committed while Green was engaged in kidnapping; (3) the murder was committed for pecuniary gain; and (4) the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel. The judge found no statutory or nonstatutory mitigating factors. *Green v. State*,

¹The trial judge was Judge Antoon. The posconviction judge was Judge Jacobus.

supra. On appeal, this Court struck the HAC aggravator, but found that the sentence was proportional based on the remaining three aggravators and absence of mitigation. *Id*.

A substantial amount of evidence was presented at the postconviction evidentiary hearing. It is discussed in more detail below in connection with individual claims. In summary, Green offered the testimony of his trial attorney, John Parker. Parker about his professional background, spoke the circumstances of his appointment, his trial strategies, the scope and results of his pretrial investigation, his pretrial motions, his discussions with defense witnesses, and he was examined specifically about each of the claims that were under consideration at the evidentiary hearing. Gregory Hammel, who represented Green as a public defender before that office withdrew due to a conflict of interest, also testified. Sheila Green and Lonnie Hillary testified and recanted their trial testimony about Green having made a number of admissions. Both had made public recantations and they were examined about them. Jerome Murray was called to testify about a public recantation he had made. Family members who testified about both quilt phase issues and background mitigation were Hamp Green, Shirley Green White, and Selestine Peterkin. Marjorie Hammock provided detailed testimony about Crosley Green's background. She is an

8

LCSW with substantial expertise in capital case mitigation and

had conducted an extensive postconviction investigation into Crosley Green's personal and family history. Additional witnesses included Odell Kiser, the dog handler for the sheriff's office at the time of the initial investigation, and Tom Fair, the head of the sheriff's homicide division at the time. Fair was examined as a hostile witness with regard to a number of documents, referred to below as 3 X 5 cards. It is argued below that they were Brady material that had been unfairly concealed. Dr. Warren Woodford was called as an expert in dog tracking. A law professor, David Dow, spoke about the obligations of defense counsel in a capital case. Among other things he referred to the ABA Guidelines and offered several opinions about where he felt defense counsel had fallen short. Green also called Dr. William Shields, a professor of biology at Syracuse University, in rebuttal to evidence regarding postconviction mitochondrial DNA testing on some hair fragments found in the truck.

The State called Leslie Louis, John King, Nancy Rathman, Don Ladner, Karen Korsberg, Shawn Weiss, who were all FDLE officers and lab personnel, with regard to that testing. Dr. Martin Tracey, a biology professor at FIU in Miami, testified about the statistical analysis of their results. Their testimony was offered to show that the hair fragments may have been Green's. The State also called Bobby Mutter, who was in charge of the

police canine training and utilization at the time. He disagreed with Dr. Woodford's testimony. Layman Lane was offered as a previously undiscovered witness to an alleged admission. Rick Jancha was the US attorney who prosecuted the drug case against Sheila Green and Lonnie Hillary. He and Phil Williams, who was co-prosecutor at the trial in this case, testified about the discussions that led to Sheila Green and Hillary testifying against Green.

The court also accepted numerous exhibits, including recordings of public recantations by various witnesses and a CBS 48 Hours episode devoted to this case. Although Green's claims about the use of expert witnesses regarding cross-race identification were summarily denied, the court allowed an affidavit about the subject by Dr. Brigham, a psychology professor, to be proffered.

The postconviction court accepted written argument from both sides after the conclusion of taking evidence. Thereafter, the United States Supreme Court released *Rompilla v. Beard*, 545 U.S. 374, 125 S.Ct. 2456, 162 L.Ed.2d 360 (2005). At trial, the State urged, and the trial court eventually found, that Green previously had been convicted of committing an armed robbery with a firearm in New York. However, the evidence in postconviction showed that Green had pled to a lesser offense of simple robbery, and that the final disposition of the case was

what was termed a Youthful Offender Adjudication which under the New York penal code was not a criminal conviction. Trial counsel had not sought the New York file. The postconviction court denied Green's guilt phase claims, but vacated the death sentence and ordered a new penalty phase before a jury because of the false evidence about the New York offense in light of *Rompilla v. Beard*.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Crosley Green defends against the State's challenge to the lower court's vacatur of his death sentence. He also provisionally appeals the court's adverse decisions about some of his penalty phase claims, and directly appeals the lower court's denial of his guilt phase claims. In a separate habeas petition, he arques that the death penalty is now disproportionate in light of new evidence.

The postconviction court did not err in finding ineffective assistance of counsel under *Rompilla v. Beard*. Here, the timing of *Rompilla* was fortuitous, to say the least. This case is either not significantly distinguishable from *Rompilla*, or to the extent that it is, it is an even more compelling case for relief. On appeal, this Court struck the heinous, atrocious and cruel aggravating circumstance, but affirmed the death penalty in light of the three remaining valid aggravating circumstances. Arguably the most grave of those three aggravators was a prior

violent felony based solely on a purported conviction for armed robbery out of New York. Trial counsel never tried to obtain the New York case file. Collateral counsel easily obtained the file, which showed that the original charge had been reduced to the equivalent of a strong armed robbery. The case had been disposed of with what was termed a youthful offender adjudication, which under New York law was not a criminal conviction at all. Moreover, the case file contained a parole officer's report which raised questions about whether Crosley Green had committed any offense in the first place; revealed that Green did not have the money to post bail whereas the codefendant did and had his charges were dropped; and detailed other significant mitigating circumstances that could have been presented at the penalty phase here.

Although the court granted relief, it erred in finding that the youthful offender adjudication was a criminal conviction. Green pled to the reduced charge, and then about week later, in accordance with New York procedure, his conviction was vacated and replaced with the youthful offender disposition. According to the New York penal code and this Court's decision in *Merck v*. *State*, that disposition did not result in a criminal conviction.

The lower court also erred in rejecting Green's claim of ineffective penalty phase assistance based on counsel=s failure to investigate and present available mitigation. Trial counsel

did not even begin to investigate mitigation prior to trial because he thought he was going to win the case outright. His case turned sour when Crosley=s sister, Sheila, and her common law husband, Lonnie Hillery, gave testimony for the State.

There were only a few weeks between the verdict and the penalty phase. Trial counsel spent about ten hours preparing for the penalty phase, and the entire penalty phase defense occupies about twenty pages of the record. An expert attorney who testified at the evidentiary hearing termed the effort as Agrossly inadequate. By contrast, collateral counsel presented extensive and detailed background mitigation which would have humanized Crosley Green by presenting evidence of the 'compassionate or mitigating factors stemming from the diverse frailties of humankind.' Trial counsels efforts failed to secure the individualized sentence the constitution requires, by failing to focus the jury's attention on the "particularized characteristics of the individual defendant."

Defense counsel had known that Sheila and Hillery were going to testify, but had not deposed them. Both have since recanted their testimony. The postconviction judge, who was not the trial judge, rejected their recantations, but did so for impermissible reasons. In particular, the judge relied on the State=s presentation of **A**newly discovered evidence of guilt.@ The court erred in doing so. The state's evidence in question was not

very probative; it consisted of a belated recollection of a purported admission by someone who was doing prison time when he testified at the evidentiary hearing for felonies involving dishonesty. The State also presented the results of post-trial mitochondrial DNA testing on some hair fragments that were found in Flynn=s truck, which showed only that Crosley Green was a possible contributor. The use of mDNA in forensic identification is far less reliable than use of nuclear DNA. The number of possible contributors to those hair fragments equals the population of the U.S. The court erred in considering this evidence which infringed on Green-s right to jury trial which requires proof beyond a reasonable doubt.

The court erred in rejecting Green-s claim that his right to an effective defense which had access to exculpatory and impeaching evidence was denied by the misleading and at times outright deceptive conduct of the law enforcement officers who originally investigated this case. Collateral counsel-s investigation unearthed a number of documents, including 3 X 5 cards, which the head of the Brevard Sheriff's homicide division at the time of trial, Detective Fair, said he was Ashocked@ to see in court.

The prosecution=s theory at trial was that Ms. Hallock viewed a shoe box full of about seventy photographs of black males, none of which were of Crosley Green. She purportedly

picked out a number of them while making clear that they were not photos of the perpetrator; they merely shared some similar facial characteristics. A police artist used this information to prepare a composite sketch, which in turn provided a lead to the defendant. The police then made a special plane trip to the prison where they obtained a **A**fresh@ photo of him. When Ms. Hallock was shown that, she purportedly made a prompt identification.

That theory was debunked at the evidentiary hearing. The truth is that Ms. Hallock picked out a number of photos, but she identified some of them as Alook a-likes@ and others as Apossible At the same time, the investigating officers suspects.@ developed leads from other sources and labeled some of them as Apossible suspects.@ They kept track of the results with the 3 X 5 cards and associated booking photos and field investigation reports which had clear notations as to whether the subject was a Apossible suspect@ or a mere look a-like, or had some other role. The overwhelming probability is that his photo was in the shoebox, that Hallock saw it, and passed it over in favor of others,= and that the plane trip was in part a ruse to obtain a particularly distinct photo and gratuitously show that Green was an ex-con. Even if not, the 3 X 5 cards show that Hallock was completely unable to make a positive identification immediately after the incident \mathbf{B} in fact she was perfectly willing to

identify people who could not have had anything to do with the crime ${\bf B}$ and the documents could have been used to impeach her testimony later on.

The court erred in rejecting a number of other claims, including one based on counsels failure to effectively challenge dog tracking evidence and the States failure to disclose exculpatory evidence about it. The jury was told that the dog had never made a mistake in various training and certification procedures. An examination of training records showed the dog's poor performance plus expert testimony showed that under the circumstances there was no way to tell who or what the dog tracked.

The court also erred by denying claims alleging that counsel was ineffective for failure to seek to have juror Harold Guiles excused for cause because of his statement during voir dire that his niece had been murdered three years earlier, or for failure to use a peremptory challenge to strike him. The court erred in summarily denying a motion to interview jurors, especially when a strong inference was shown that one of them, probably Mr. Guiles, had engaged in misconduct. Defense counsel was ineffective because he did not confront Hallock at trial with police reports showing that this was a drug deal gone bad and that she, rather than the perpetrator, had been the one to tie Flynn's hands. Defense counsel failed to properly impeach a

state witness, Jerome Murray. The court erred by summarily denying a claim based on particular issues related to cross race identification. Also, a number of other claims are asserted to preserve them for future review.

ARGUMENT ON CROSS APPEAL

THE POSTCONVICTION COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL UNDER ROMPILLA V. BEARD

The postconviction court found as follows:

In sentencing the Defendant to death, trial court found the following the aggravating factor: Green was previously convicted of a violent felony. . . . Specifically, the trial court found that "the State however did establish beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant was convicted of another armed robbery on January 26, 1977, in the State of New York. This aggravating circumstance does exist." .

During the penalty phase on September 27, 1990, the State presented testimony from three witnesses pertaining to the prior violent felony conviction. Bob Rubin testified that he was a parole officer with Florida the State of Department of Corrections from 1977 to 1989. Mr. Rubin testified that he supervised the Defendant's parole on armed robbery that originated from the State of New York. . . . Mr. Rubin further testified that on March 2, 1978, the Defendant came to his office and advised that he needed some form of identification for employment purposes because he could not secure a birth certificate or any other substantial form of identification. . . .

Mr. Rubin testified that he suggested to the Defendant to register as a felon with the Brevard County Sheriffs Office, then he would be able to obtain necessary identification documents. . . . The State

introduced into evidence a "Criminal Registration Form" which indicated that the Defendant was a convicted felon. . . . Rusself Cockriel with the Brevard County Sheriffs Office testified to the Defendant's fingerprints on a fingerprint card taken in conjunction with registering as a convicted Daniel Kopper, a police felon. . . . officer in 1976 with the village of Albion New York State, testified that he in responded to the scene of the New York incident, and was later notified that the Defendant had [pled] guilty to robbery and was sentenced as a youthful offender. . . . After the jury returned an eight to four advisory recommendation for the death penalty, the Court ordered a pre-sentence investigation. The pre-sentence investigation reported "JUVENILE RECORD: none ascertained." The pre-sentence

investigation listed under the Defendant's adult record an armed robbery from Albion, New York . . .

PC-R XXIV, 4064-77.² The Court further found that:

The evidence presented to this Court in the post-conviction proceeding showed that on January 19, 1977, the Defendant [pled] guilty to "robbery in the third degree" in the State of New York, not armed robbery as found by the trial court in 1990 in this case. The robbery offense occurred in County of Orleans in New York on April 18, 1976. . . At the time of committing the offense, the Defendant was eighteen years old. . . On January 25, 1977, at the sentencing proceeding, Judge Hamilton Doherty pronounced the sentence:

Well, the Court finds that you are eligible

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