IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CROSLY A. GREEN,

Case No. SC05-2265

Appellant/Cross-Appellee,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee/Cross-Appellant.

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT  
IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

REPLY BRIEF OF CROSS-APPELLANT

BILL McCOLLUM  
ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS  
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL  
Fla. Bar #410519  
444 Seabreeze Blvd., 5th FL  
Daytona Beach, FL 32118  
(386) 238-4990  
Fax # (386) 226-0457  
COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT

**

**POINT I ON CROSS-APPEAL**

**THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ORDERING A NEW  
PENALTY PHASE; COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE  
IN INVESTIGATING THE NEW YORK CONVICTION.**

Green first argues that "false evidence" was presented to the jury. There was no false evidence presented to the jury, and this was not the basis of the trial court granting a new penalty phase. The basis for granting a new penalty phase was that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to rebut evidence of Green's prior violent felony. The trial court findings were:

- (1) Green was convicted of robbery in New York (V24, R4067, 4073), and under New York law, third-degree robbery is a prior violent felony (V24, R4075);
- (2) Defense counsel was aware Green was adjudicated a youthful offender in New York and argued it should not be considered a juvenile conviction (V24, R4069);
- (3) Defense counsel did not attempt to obtain the file of the New York conviction because Defendant admitted to committing the crime (V24, R4068).

Notwithstanding, the trial judge found that counsel was ineffective for failing to obtain the file because his "only reason for not obtaining the file was because he remembered the Defendant informing him that he committed the offense." (V24, R4071). Citing *Rompilla v. Beard*, 545 U.S.374, 125 S.Ct. 2456, 162 L.Ed.2d 360 (2005), the trial judge concluded that even if a defendant suggests there is no mitigation, defense counsel is bound to make reasonable efforts to review materials the

prosecution will rely on. First, the prosecution did not have the documents from the New York conviction, and the trial court acknowledged this fact. (V24, R4068, 4071)("the State could not obtain the file, only defense counsel could").

Second, there is a difference between investigating a defendant's background (*Rompilla*), and misleading a court into thinking there is some doubt about whether the defendant committed a prior crime after the defendant tells you he did, in fact, commit that crime. A defendant has no due process right to require his counsel to aid in the commission of a fraud on the court. *Dehaven v. State*, 618 So.2d 337 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993).

Third, the validity of the New York conviction was never challenged in New York, the only jurisdiction which would have the capability of invalidating the conviction. Therefore, the report of a parole officer speculating about why a defendant pled guilty to an offense is not relevant to any issue in mitigation of the Florida murder. The trial judge, however, found that the parole officer's report "**could have mitigated the New York conviction.**" (V24, R4078). Although relevant evidence in mitigation of the **Florida** conviction is admissible in a capital sentencing hearing, mitigation as to the New York conviction, which has never been challenged and which is based solely on a speculative statement in a report which is contrary to what Green told counsel, would not be relevant.

Green did not testify at the evidentiary hearing, and defense counsel's testimony that Green told him he committed the New York robbery is unrebutted.

The only mitigation that can be gleaned from the New York parole report which would be relevant mitigation is that he was a migrant in the area and had no one to testify in his behalf. The latter statement regarding testimony in the New York case is relevant only insofar as Green was an 18-year old migrant and had no family members in New York. Every other statement quoted by the trial judge from the parole report has to do with the validity of the New York conviction. So the alleged ineffectiveness of counsel is based on the minor bit of information that Green was an 18-year-old migrant in New York with no family. Green was 17 or 18 when their parents died (TT2221)<sup>1</sup>. Shirley Green (Allen) testified at the penalty phase of Green's trial and told about his father killing his mother then shooting himself (TT2221). Their sister, Dee Dee, found the parents. There were 11 children in the family. They could not talk about the deaths because it hurt too much (TT2222). This bit of hearsay evidence was contradicted by sworn testimony at the penalty phase. At the time of the deaths, Green was living in New York with his grandfather, but all the brothers

---

<sup>1</sup> Cites are to the penalty phase transcripts of the original trial.

and sisters were in Florida (TT2225). The statement of the New York parole officer that Green was a "migrant" in New York and there was no one to testify for him seems to be contradicted by Shirley's testimony that Green was living with the grandparents. In fact, Shirley was asked whether Green was living on his own in New York, and reiterated "he was with my grandfather." (TT2225). Therefore, not only was the alleged mitigation in the parole report marginally mitigating, it would have contradicted another defense witness, Green's sister.

The trial court also erred in its finding that the jury was under the mistaken belief that Green was convicted of armed robbery rather than simple robbery. The testimony and argument from both parties was consistent with the fact that Green was only convicted of robbery. There was only one mention of armed robbery, and that was that Green was *charged* with armed robbery but pled to robbery. Whether the judge made an error in his sentencing order is an issue for the judge to resolve; however, that does not involve the jury or a complete new penalty phase. Furthermore, it is not clear that Judge Antoon was mistaken about the status of the robbery. In one place in his order, he refers to the prior conviction as "armed robbery." (TT2840). Shortly thereafter, he refers to the prior conviction as "robbery." (TT2845). Considering every reference at the trial was to "robbery," it should not be assumed the reference to

armed robbery was anything more than a scrivener's error and Judge Antoon was not perfectly aware the conviction was for robbery.

The relevant facts from trial are: Bob Rubin, Probation and Parole in Florida, supervised Green beginning January 31, 1978. (TT2192). Rubin testified that Green had transferred from New York and was on parole for "armed robbery" (TT2194); however, it was later clarified Green was **charged** with armed robbery, but he **pled** to simple robbery and was sentenced as a Youthful Offender (TT2216-17). State's Exhibit 1 at the penalty phase states that Green's New York conviction was for "robbery." (TT2204, 3059). During closing argument, the prosecutor talked to the jury about "the robbery in New York" for which Green was "sentenced to prison as a youthful offender." (TT2284). Mr. Parker told the jury that the prior "robbery" conviction should not be given weight because Green received "youthful offender treatment, a 15-16-year old boy." (TT2314).

The issue was also addressed at the "*Spencer*"<sup>2</sup> hearing (TT2407). The prosecutor referred to the New York offense as a "robbery" (TT2378), stated that Green was arrested for "robbery"

---

<sup>2</sup> *Spencer v. State*, 615 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1993), had not been decided at the time of Green's sentencing procedure; however, the trial judge used a comparable procedure by having oral arguments on the aggravating/mitigation circumstances on November 7, 1990. (TT2339-2420). Sentencing was February 8, 1991. (TT2442-2459).

in New York, and was convicted of "robbery" in New York, and that they are "talking about robbery." (TT2379). The prosecutor also stated that he believed Green was 17 or 18 at the time of the New York offense. (TT2380). Mr. Parker argued that the State did not file any judgment and sentence of the New York offense, and there was insufficient proof. (TT2405). He also argued that Green was very young at the time of the New York offense and received Youthful Offender treatment, the offense was remote and should be given little weight. (TT2407). And a Youthful Offender conviction should not be considered a prior violent felony. (TT2252).

The record shows that after the clarification that Green may have been arrested for armed robbery, but pled to robbery, all parties were crystal clear that the offense was a robbery. There was no subsequent reference to the jury of anything except "robbery." The only exhibit which was introduced regarding the New York conviction, State's Exhibit 1, listed the offense as "robbery."

Trial counsel was not deficient for failing to pull the New York conviction file because his client admitted the prior violent felony. Trial counsel was not deficient in his treatment of the robbery at the penalty phase. Even though the offense charged was armed robbery, it was clear that Green only pled to robbery. Green was not prejudiced by the omission of

alleged mitigation that Green was a migrant in New York with no one to testify for him because this information was contradicted by Shirley Green's testimony. Green was not prejudiced by the absence of the speculative information of the parole officer that he may not have committed the New York robbery because this information is inadmissible. As the trial judge held, Green was convicted of robbery in New York and there is no question it is a prior violent felony. The trial judge's findings on ineffective assistance of counsel are not supported by competent, substantial evidence and are a misapplication of *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). As to deficient performance, the Court stated:

The reasonableness of counsel's actions may be determined or substantially influenced by the defendant's own statements or actions. Counsel's actions are usually based, quite properly, on informed strategic choices made by the defendant and on information supplied by the defendant. In particular, what investigation decisions are reasonable depends critically on such information. For example, when the facts that support a certain potential line of defense are generally known to counsel because of what the defendant has said, the need for further investigation may be considerably diminished or eliminated altogether. And when a defendant has given counsel reason to believe that pursuing certain investigations would be fruitless or even harmful, counsel's failure to pursue those investigations may not later be challenged as unreasonable.

*Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 691 (U.S. 1984). Although the trial judge cites to *Rompilla* as authority that counsel must make reasonable efforts to investigate even if a

defendant's statements suggest none exists(V24, R4071), *Rompilla*

also clearly states that:

the duty to investigate does not force defense lawyers to scour the globe on the off-chance something will turn up; reasonably diligent counsel may draw a line when they have good reason to think further investigation would be a waste. See *Wiggins v. Smith*, 539 U.S., at 525, 156 L. Ed2d 471, 123 S. Ct. 2527 (further investigation excusable where counsel has evidence suggesting it would be fruitless); *Strickland v. Washington*, supra, at 699, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (counsel could "reasonably surmise . . . that character and psychological evidence would be of little help").

*Rompilla v. Beard*, 545 U.S. 374, 383 (2005).

The trial judge also misapplied the prejudice component of *Strickland*. The prejudice component at the sentencing stage requires:

When a defendant challenges a death sentence such as the one at issue in this case, the question is whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the sentencer -- including an appellate court, to the extent it independently reweighs the evidence - - would have concluded that the balance of aggravating and mitigating circumstances did not warrant death.

*Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 695 (U.S. 1984).

**CONCLUSION**

Based on the arguments and authorities herein, the Cross-Appellant respectfully requests this Honorable Court reverse the trial court finding which grants Appellant a new penalty phase.